Court of Appeals Case No. 69294-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DENIS FURY, et al., Appellants,

v.

THE CITY OF NORTH BEND, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Todd W. Wyatt, WSBA #31608 Stuart Carson, WSBA #26427 Attorneys for Appellants CARSON & NOEL, PLLC 20 Sixth Avenue NE Issaquah, WA 98027 Tel: 425.837.4717 / Fax: 425.837.5396

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Denis and Gail Fury, Tanner Way, LLC, Thomas Weber, Thomas and Nancy Thornton, and Dahlgren Family LLC #7 (collectively, the "Owners") ask the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decisions terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Owners seek review of the Court of Appeals October 21, 2013 Unpublished Opinion (the "Opinion"), attached in the Appendix as pages A-1 through A-16, as well the Court of Appeals January 8, 2014 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, attached in the Appendix as page A-17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Owners challenged assessments imposed against them by Respondent the City of North Bend (the "City") pursuant to a Utility Local Improvement District ("ULID"). The City's ULID—"ULID No. 6"—was created pursuant to the ULID statutes found in RCW 35.43 and RCW 35.44. In the 2007 ordinance enacting ULID No. 6, the City authorized the purchase of a vacuum sewer system at an approximate cost of \$11.6 million. After passage, however, the City's staff—without modifying ULID No. 6 or obtaining public approval—decided to purchase a gravity sewer system instead of a vacuum sewer system,

increasing the cost by over \$7 million. After the City imposed assessments against the Owners for the gravity system, the Owners challenged the assessments. The Court of Appeals invalidated the assessments levied by the City, holding that ULID No. 6 never encompassed a gravity sewer system. The Court of Appeals also held, however, that the City could "reassess" the Owners on remand. There is no provision in the ULID statutes that allows for assessment (or reassessment) based upon projects not originally encompassed by the improvement district. The issue presented, therefore, is whether a municipality may assess citizens for the cost of one public works project under the authority of a local improvement district when that local improvement district was expressly created for a different public works project.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The History of ULID No. 6.

In order to create a ULID, a municipality must obtain the written authorization of over 50% of the citizens within a proposed ULID boundary. Here, that occurred, and in 2007 notice was sent to the citizens of the City that a public hearing would be held concerning the creation of a vacuum sewer system ULID. CP 55 (Hearing Exhibit 1 at page 21 of

the PDF).¹ At the hearing, the City Council decided to create ULID No. 6 authorizing the vacuum system. The City effectuated its decision via ordinance, CP 80-84, and, as required by law—see RCW 35.43.080 & RCW 35.44.020—described in detail the improvement the City was authorizing:

The City Council orders the following described improvements: Design and construction of a vacuum sewer system in the herein specified portion of the City [Comp Plan] . . . including but not limited to two (2) vacuum/pump stations, approximately 24,000 linear feet of 10-inch and 12-inch diameter force mains, approximately 40,600 linear feet of 4-inch, 6-inch, 8-inch, and 10-inch diameter collection pipes, one side sewer service and sump pit to each benefiting parcel, division valves, two (2) emergency generators, and appurtenances, all as approximately depicted in Exhibit A

CP 80-84 (emphasis added). The City estimated the total cost for the project as \$11.6 Million. CP 81.

At some point after ULID No. 6 was created, City employees and consultants decided to change the vacuum sewer system, approved by the

_

¹ Pursuant to a stipulation and order signed by the Superior Court, see CP 46-47, the administrative record—developed before a Hearing Examiner hired by the City—is voluminous and accordingly on a CD. That CD was admitted as an exhibit by the Superior Court and has been transferred to the Court of Appeals. CP 55, 109-10. That CD is divided into three folders: (1) "Protest Letters" contains the original protest letters filed by property owners in response to the assessment roll issued by the City. This petition will cite them as "Hearing Protest Letters"; (2) "Exhibits" contains the exhibits introduced at the hearing before the Hearing Examiner. This petition will cite them as "Hearing Exhibits"; and (3) "Appeals to HE Decision" contains the documents filed after the Hearing Examiner's preliminary decision and on appeal to the City Council. This petition will cite them as "Council Appeal Documents." Finally, there are five PDFs not placed in folders, including a full copy of Ordinance 1452 and two PDFs of the hearing transcript. The hearing transcript will be cited as "Hearing Transcript," whereas the Superior Court oral argument transcript will be cited as the Record of Proceedings, or "RP".

Council and the landowners within ULID No. 6, to a gravity sewer system. Hearing Transcript, page 339, lines 2-9. The change was dramatic: it significantly altered the pipes and other items described in ULID No. 6 and increased the cost of the project by over \$7 million. See, e.g., Hearing Transcript, page 307, lines 6-14; page 335, lines 22-24. As the City's Public Works Director Ron Garrow put it to both the press, see Hearing Exhibit 75, and during the administrative hearing, see Hearing Transcript, page 338, lines 1-4, comparing the vacuum system to the gravity system is like comparing "apples and oranges." The price for constructing the gravity system, approximately \$19 million, CP 86-89, was substantially higher than the original \$11.6 million approved by the City Council and requested by petitioning owners for constructing the vacuum system.

There was never any ordinance or resolution from the City Council approving the City staff's decision to scrap the previously approved vacuum system or otherwise modifying ULID No. 6 to create a larger and more expensive gravity-based system. Hearing Transcript, page 51, line 16 through page 52, line 1.

2. The Owners Within ULID No. 6 Appeal the Assessments.

The Owners—and tens of other landowners within ULID No. 6—protested the assessments on a number of grounds. A two-day, 13-hour public hearing was held before a hearing examiner. The Hearing Examiner issued his decision largely approving the City's proposed assessment roll. Hearing Exhibit 88. Without discussion or oral argument, the City Council affirmed the roll. CP 86-89.

3. The Superior Court Orders a "Limited" Remand.

The Owners appealed the City Council's confirmation of the assessment roll to the King County Superior Court, which sat as an appellate court per RCW 35.44.250. The Superior Court remanded the case back to the City—on a "limited" basis—because of due process violations that occurred during the administrative hearing. RP 39-40. The Superior Court did not rule on the many other substantive issues raised by the Owners, and accordingly the Owners appealed. In their appeal briefs to the Court of Appeals, the Owners sought annulment of the assessments and, in the alternative, a full remand for a new administrative process, not a "limited" reassessment as proscribed by the Superior Court.

4. The Court of Appeals Annuls the Assessments, But Allows "Reassessment."

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals adopted the Owners' position that it was improper for the City to charge the Owners for expenses incurred building a gravity system. The Opinion explains two separate reasons for invalidating the assessments on these grounds.

First, RCW 35.43.070 requires that cities employ ordinances for creating ULIDs. Once that ordinance is created, a property owner has 30 days to file a protest under RCW 35.43.100. The Court of Appeals relied on these statutes as well as the 1894 case of *Buckley v. City of Tacoma*, 9 Wash. 253, 37 P. 441 (1894), to hold that "once the City became aware of the substantially increased cost of the gravity sewer system, it should have passed a new ordinance giving the property owners a new opportunity to protest." A-14.

Second, RCW 35.44.020 requires every ordinance creating a ULID to include certain cost estimates. As the Court of Appeals explained: "If the City has latitude to materially increase the initial cost estimate without proper notice to the property owners, RCW 35.44.020 serves no purpose." A-14.

The Owners agree with these rationales. The Opinion concludes, however:

[O]nce the City became aware of the substantially increased cost of the gravity sewer system, it should have passed a new ordinance, thus triggering a new notice and protest period for all property owners within the expanded ULID. As the appellants vigorously protest, the only validly created ULID was for a \$11.7 million vacuum sewer system. No ULID was ever created for a \$19 million gravity sewer system. . . The City does not have authority to impose assessments for an improvement not created under the ULID statutes. . . Consistent with Abbenhaus [v. City of Yakima, 89 Wn.2d 855, 576 P.2d 888 (1978)], we reverse the trial court and annul the assessments only of the appealing property owners, allowing the City to pursue a reassessment.

A-15–A-16 (emphasis added). The Opinion then contains a footnote, reading: "In both their opening brief and reply brief, appellants acknowledge that a city may proceed with a reassessment after an assessment is nullified. RCW 35.44.280. *See* Br. Of App. at 41, Reply Br. at 19." A-16.

The Owners then filed a motion for reconsideration and to publish. In that motion, the Owners explained that: (1) there was no legally permissible way under the statutes or case law to "reassess" in this context when the improvement was already constructed and the Court of Appeals had ruled the existing ULID did not substantively encompass the improvement the "reassessment" would cover, and (2) the Owners' request for a remand was sought in the alternative for procedural relief only and was located exclusively in the sections of their brief concerning

the Superior Court's "limited" remand order. *See* Motion to Reconsider, attached to the Appendix at A-18 through A-33. The City filed a response, and without explanation the Court of Appeals denied the Motion to Reconsider and Publish. A-17.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

This case meets the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The Opinion's reassessment instruction conflicts with previous published decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals concerning public works, conflicts with the plain language of the ULID statutes, involves significant questions of public policy, and addresses issues of substantial public interest. If allowed to stand, the Opinion's holding concerning reassessment opens a new, wide, and problematic door for governmental agencies to excuse any lack of compliance with statutorily mandated local improvement processes and instead retroactively pigeonhole completed projects into improvement districts that were intended to fund completely different projects. The statutory requirements of notice and cost estimates will be subject to abuse, as cities could dramatically alter ULID projects and risk only the penalty of a new reassessment hearing.

1. Allowing Reassessment Conflicts with Decisions of the Supreme Court, Court of Appeals, and Washington Statutes.

The best way to illustrate the error in the Opinion concerning reassessment is to imagine how reassessment could occur on remand. There are three possible ways the City could attempt a reassessment. One, the City could reassess under the current state of ULID No. 6. Two, the City could pass an ordinance attempting to "modify" ULID No. 6 to include the already-built gravity sewer system. Three, the City could form a new ULID for the completed gravity system. All of these options conflict with precedent and statutes.

a. Reassessment under ULID No. 6 as is.

Any reassessment under the current ULID No. 6 suffers from the same defect already found in the Opinion: ULID No. 6 did not include a larger, more expensive gravity system and no assessment can lawfully be made for that system. Whether it is labeled an assessment or reassessment, the flaw is the same, rendering the assessments against the Owners invalid as a matter of law.

b. "Modifying" ULID No. 6 via ordinance.

The second option possibly allowed by the Opinion is for the City Council to pass an ordinance—more than two years after construction of the gravity system is complete—"modifying" ULID No. 6 to include a

gravity system instead of a vacuum system. RCW Chapters 35.43 and 35.44 do not contemplate such a process. The City could claim that a "modified" ULID would trigger the opportunity to protest under RCW 35.43.100. If one assumes that protest is rejected, the City would assert that it could then proceed to reassess. This option raises numerous conflicts with Washington law.

First, as recognized in the Opinion, allowing an after-the-fact modification ordinance to materially increase costs and adopt a new improvement would render RCW 35.44.020 meaningless. A-14. The citizens petitioned for a vacuum system and it was approved following the requirements of RCW 35.44.020; allowing a City to throw those standards aside reads all force out of the statute. The City could materially and unilaterally alter the project and double the costs without the knowledge or consent of the original petitioning owners.

Second, although Washington courts allow curative procedural reassessments, cases do not allow municipalities to substantively and materially modify an already enacted and publically approved ULID, especially when such a modification drastically alters the system design or materially increases the cost to property owners within a ULID.²

_

² See, e.g., Sane Transit v. Sound Transit, 151 Wn.2d 60, 68, 85 P.3d 346 (2004) ("While minor details in a public project may be changed by the governing agency, taxpayer funds may not be used to construct a substantially different project than the one

Third, and more broadly, even if a modification of ULID No. 6 were allowed *before* the gravity sewer system was built—which it was not—modification *now* of ULID No. 6 runs directly afoul of the ULID statutes. The ULID statutes speak plainly on this: the ordinances describing and approving a ULID are to be vetted through the ULID process *before the improvement is constructed*, not after. There is no basis in the statutes (or anywhere else in law) for incorporating an improvement into a ULID after the improvement is built.³

approved by the voters."); O'Byrne v. City of Spokane, 67 Wn.2d 132, 135-36, 406 P.2d 595 (1965) (holding that a city exceeded its power when, after it ordered a street improvement via ordinance and public vote that referenced specific items, the city then changed one of the items concerning a route of part of a street, and relying on the principle that "[i]t is probably true that the city may make minor changes in the plans but may not radically alter them so as to construct an entirely different system from that voted upon by the people" (citation omitted and emphasis added)); George v. City of Anacortes, 147 Wash. 242, 265 P. 477 (1928) (holding that when a change was made that accounted for over 10% of the total cost of the improvement project and was in contravention of the original ordinance, the change was invalid); Haves v. City of Seattle, 120 Wash. 372, 374-75, 207 P. 607 (1922) (holding that even though the enacting ordinance for an improvement authorized a city to make changes to the improvement as long as the purpose of the improvement was not affected, the city did not have the right to make anything other than "minor" changes and the "radical" change to one part of the improvement plan was impermissible); La Franchi v. City of Seattle, 78 Wash. 158, 164, 138 P. 659 (1914) (rejecting an assessment roll passed by the City of Seattle when the city included items in the assessed expenses not included in the original petition calling for the improvement, and quoting a treatise for the proposition that "the ordinance being the sole authority for the construction of a public improvement to be paid for by special assessment, the municipal authorities have no right to change the nature, locality, character or description of the improvement as prescribed in the ordinance" (citation omitted and emphasis added)).

³ See, e.g., Douglass v. Spokane County, 115 Wn. App. 900, 910, 64 P.3d 71 (2003) (holding that the phrase "to be" in the special assessment context is prospective only, and that "Washington cases addressing ULID improvements just discuss improvements made after the creation of the ULID." (emphasis in original)); see also RCW 35.43.040 (discussing the improvement "to be constructed" in a ULID and that a city may order the work "to be done" to complete the improvement (emphasis added)); 35.43.050

Fourth, allowing a retroactive modification now would not cure the Owners' lost protest rights under RCW 35.43.100, which the Opinion correctly identifies as one of the key reasons the assessments must be annulled. RCW 35.43.100 places a limit on any lawsuit "challenging the jurisdiction or authority of the [city] council to proceed with the improvement and creating the local improvement district . . . unless that lawsuit is served or filed no later than thirty days after the date of passage of the ordinance ordering the improvement and creating the district[.]" Emphasis added.

The statute presumes that there is an ordinance "ordering the improvement" and "creating" the district. Here, even if the City passed a new ordinance modifying ULID No. 6 to include the gravity system, that is not an ordinance "ordering" anything—the system has already been purchased and built. Moreover, a modifying ordinance is not an ordinance "creating" the district. The district has already been created. The time period for challenging ULID No. 6 has expired. Indeed, what possible beneficial effect could a protest have now? A new ordinance

(explaining the procedure when a city finds that property "will be benefited" by the improvement (emphasis added)); 35.43.070 (mandating that a improvement "may be ordered" only via ordinance (emphasis added)); 35.43.080 (providing requirements for every ordinance "ordering" an improvement (emphasis added)); 35.43.120 (discussing the requirements needed for "the proposed improvement" (emphasis added)); 35.43.130 (same and requiring "preliminary estimates" for the improvements); 35.43.140 (explaining the process for resolutions of a city "declaring its intention to order the improvement"); 35.44.020 (requiring estimates of costs).

modifying the improvement could not be read to restart a protest period unless the phrases "ordering the improvement and creating the district" are read out of the statute. The Opinion allowance of a reassessment under these facts cannot be squared with the statutory language.

The phrase "to proceed with the improvement" cements this conclusion even further. There is nothing for the City "to proceed with" in this case; the language does not apply to any post-construction ULID modification. RCW 35.43.100 would not apply after a modification of ULID No. 6.4

Buckley v. City of Tacoma is on point. In that case, after the improvement was complete, the City of Tacoma passed an ordinance "ratifying" the work. 9 Wash. 253, 259-60, 37 P. 441 (1894). The court rejected this post-construction ratification as directly contrary to the sequence demanded by law. *Id.* at 268-69 (citing the applicable ordinances, which, like the ULID statutes, speak in terms of ordering and

⁴ RCW 35.44.300 does not change this result. That statute states that reassessments are not invalid merely because the improvement is complete. That is, of course, true: if an assessment is found to be invalid in some technical sense—for example, if an appraiser's opinions were found to be arbitrary and capricious—but the underlying costs within the ULID are valid, the reassessment can and should be allowed even though the construction is complete. But that is not the issue here. A plain reassessment as envisioned by RCW 35.44.300 is not possible. The only other possibilities, therefore, are to modify ULID No. 6 or enact a new ULID. Both those scenarios fail because the acts of modifying the ordinance or enacting a new ULID are themselves invalid as a matter of law under the ULID process. Put differently, the "reassessment" is not on its face invalid because the improvement is complete, but the revised/new ordinances themselves are invalid under the ULID statutes, and that impermissibility imputes to the reassessments since these revised/new ordinances would be the only bases for any reassessment.

approving the project before construction). The court also noted that any "protest" right was meaningless: "The work has been done beyond recall, and no remonstrance of property owners could have any possible effect." *Id.* at 268. Like in *Buckley*, any post-construction modification (or, as discussed below, new ULID) cannot impose costs for the gravity system.

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