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

Moreover, case law is equally clear that the City is not foreclosed 

from reassessing the property here. Doolittle v. City of Everett, 114 

Wn.2d 88, 107, 786 P.2d 253, 263 (1990), referencing RCW 35.44.280; 

RCW 35.44.310; Eggerth v. Spokane. 91 Wash. 221, 157 P. 859 (1916); 

In re West Wheeler Street, 97 Wash. 669, 167 P. 41 (1917). 

2. Irregularities are not fatal under RCW 35.44.300. 

In addition to the reassessment authorization expressly provided in 

RCW 35.44.280, other state statutes specifically declare that irregularities 

in the establishment and formation of improvement districts do not 

prohibit reassessments. RCW 35.44.300, entitled "[I]rregularities not 

fatal", provides: 

The fact that the contract has been let or that the 
improvement has been made and completed in whole or 
in part shall not prevent the reassessment from being 
made, nor shall the omission or neglect of any office or 
officers to comply with the law, the charter, or 
ordinances governing the city or town as to petition, 
notice, resolution to improve, estimate, survey, diagram, 
manner of letting contract, or execution of work or any 
other matter connected with the improvement and the 
first assessment thereof operate to invalidate or in any 
way affect the making of a reassessment. [Emphases 
added.] 

In other words, even if an improvement has been completed, a 

reassessment can nonetheless still be made. 
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Further, it is long-established that a reassessment can be made 

even where the work was ordered and done without any initial jurisdiction 

or power in the city. Nichols v. City Spokane, 91 Wash. 235, 237, 157 P. 

863 (1916). In Nichols, the Court found that a reassessment upon an 

enlarged district can be completed based on the authority granted by the 

legislature. Id. In the early case of Frederick v. Seattle, 13 Wash. 428, 43 

P. 365 (1896), construing the 1896 statute which provided for a 

reassessment to pay the cost of a public improvement where the original 

assessment had been held void, the Court held that the "Legislature 

intended to provide for a reassessment in all cases where the assessment 

had been held to be void, whether for irregularities or for want of 

prerequisites which went to the jurisdiction of the council to levy the 

assessment and to order the work done," and that such legislation was 

constitutional. ld. at 430-31. 

3. Owners have never rebutted the presumption that the 
improvement was a benefit to their properties. 

All prope11ies included in a utility district are assessed based on the 

special benefits to such properties as a result of the improvements 

constructed by the utility district. RCW 35.44.01 0. Special benefits are 

determined by comparing the fair market values of each property before 

and after the improvements are made. Bellevue Assocs. v. City of 
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Bellevue, 108 Wn.2d 671, 675, 741 P.2d 993 (1987). An appellate court 

"presume[s] that an improvement is a benefit; that an assessment is no 

greater than the benefit; that an assessment is equal or ratable to an 

assessment upon other property similarly situated; and that the assessment 

is fair." Abbenhaus v. City of Yakima. 89 Wn.2d 855, 861, 576 P.2d 888 

(1978). 

This presumption may be rebutted by presentation of expert 

appraisal evidence. I d. If the challenging party presents expert appraisal 

evidence showing that the property is not specially benefited by the 

improvement, the burden shifts to the city to prove that the property is so 

benefited. Id. That proof must rest upon competent evidence and must 

prove the difference between the fair market value of the property 

immediately before and after the improvement. Bellevue Plaza, Inc. v. 

City of Bellevue, 121 Wn.2d 397, 404, 851 P.2d 662, 665 (1993). 

Whether property has been specially benefitted by an 

improvement, and a measure of the extent of such benefit, are questions of 

fact to be proven by expert testimony. In re Indian Trunk Sewer System, 

35 Wn. App. 840, 842, 670 P.2d 675 (Division III, 1983). Property 

owners who wish to dispute a city's determination of special benefit must 

provide appraisal testimony that there is no difference between the fair 

market value of the property before and after installation of the 
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improvements. ld.; Douglass v. Spokane County, 115 Wn. App. 900, 908, 

64 P.3d 71,75-76 (Div. III 2003). 

Although appraisers appeared on behalf of two of the Owners, 

their testimony did not address the subject of special benefits. 5 Rather, 

their testimony primarily focused on the economic recession and its 

possible impact on property values. Accordingly, Owners have failed to 

provide competent evidence to support their contention that the new sewer 

system does not benefit their properties. 

4. Analysis. 

a. Allowing a reassessment does not render RCW 
35.44.020 meaningless. 

RCW 35.44.020 identifies the requirements of the cost and 

expense summary for every local improvement assessment. The purpose 

of this section is to give property owners notice of the improvements and 

the ability to protest if they disagree with the assessment amount. As 

previously noted, the City originally approved a vacuum sewer system but 

changed to a gravity system in order to accommodate additional properties 

within the district. (Fury at 2, 15.) 

If the City had not changed the system from vacuum to gravity, the 

ULID would not have been feasible. While the Com1 of Appeals 

acknowledged this fact, the Court nonetheless found that the City was 

5 The three remaining owners failed to present any expert testimony. 
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required to adopt a new ordinance implementing the change in order to 

comply with the requirements ofRCW 35.44.020. Id. at 2, 13, fn. 29; 14-

15. 

RCW 35.44.280 specifically anticipates instances like those 

presented here, where cost estimates, notice requirements under RCW 

35.44.020, or other errors occur. The statute is unremarkable, and serves 

only to codify the state Supreme Court's previous reasoning in 

determining that the Legislature may authorize a reassessment even when 

work was ordered and done without any initial jurisdiction or power in the 

city. Nichols, 91 Wn. 235, 237, citing Kuehl v. City of Edmonds, 91 

Wash. 195, 157 P. 850 (1916). 

All of the cases cited here by Owners are distinguishable. Owners 

cite George v. City of Anacortes. 147 Wash. 242, 265 P. 477 (1928), for 

the proposition that a municipality cannot set forth the particulars of an 

improvement and then substantially change them. Petition at 10. 

However, the Court of Appeals found that Owners' reliance on George 

was misplaced. Fury at 13. In George, the Court found that the city 

changed the location of the water system improvement. The Court 

rejected the city's change because the ordinance had detailed the specific 

street where the main was to be located, and the record presented "no 

change of situation requiring a departure from the plan, lack of feasibility, 
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or any reason other than a desire to substitute a different plan than that 

submitted to the people." George, 147 Wash. at 246. Here, while the 

change to a gravity system materially increased the cost, that change in 

cost was forced by feasibility concerns that a vacuum sewer system would 

not meet the projected capacity of the expanded ULID. Further, the 

remedy awarded to the property owners in George was to order the city to 

install the main in the original location. This type of remedy is not 

available here because the dispute arose after the gravity system had 

already been constructed. Fury at 13. 

Owners also cite Sane Transit v. Sound Transit, 151 Wn.2d 60, 68, 

85 P.3d 346 (2004), for the proposition that taxpayer funds cannot be used 

to construct a substantially different public project than the one approved 

by voters. Petition at 10. That case involved a public project approved by 

voters in multiple counties, unlike the ULID at issue here, which taxes 

only the benefited property owners. In addition, the Sane Transit decision 

did not even address reassessments. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly 

found the Sane Transit decision inapplicable. Fury at 13. 

At page 10 of the Petition, Owners also cite to Hayes v. City of 

Seattle, 120 Wash. 372, 207 P. 607 (1922), which is likewise 

distinguishable from this case. In Hayes, the Supreme Court addressed 

whether Seattle, after passing an ordinance adopting an extension of its 
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street car system, could modify the details of the plan, abandon the 

extension of improvements as provided in the original plan, and extend the 

line on a different street and in another direction. There, the Court found 

that "[t]he change proposed does not deal with the details of the original 

plan; it is an entire departure from that plan in so far as this extension is 

concerned." Id. at 374-75. Here, the plan never changed- the sewer was 

located as originally proposed, only using gravity rather than vacuum. 

Also at page I 0 of the Petition, Owners cite to O'Byrne v. City of 

Spokane, where the city council passed an ordinance providing for 

improvements to a street system, including a freeway which was to 

intersect a high school site. 67 Wn.2d 132, 406 P.2d 595 (1965). Voters 

approved the ordinance. Thereafter, the city council adopted another 

ordinance moving the freeway to avoid the intersection with the high 

school. The Court ruled that the change of freeway was a major deviation 

from the ordinance approved by the voters and was not within the 

discretion of city council. ld. at 137. Both O'Byrne and Hayes are 

distinguishable from the case at bar. Here, the City only changed one 

detail of the plan, substituting a gravity system for a vacuum system. The 

service area did not change nor did the stated purpose of the ordinance- to 

create a sewer ULID for a clearly identified area. 
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b. City has the authority to modify an existing publicly 
approved ULID. 

Owners cite no authority to support their argument that the City 

lacks the authority to modify or revoke an approved ULID. The plain 

terms ofRCW 35.44.280 entitle the City to conduct a reassessment. 

c. Reassessments can be made after an improvement is 
built. 

Owners reference Douglass, 115 Wn. App. at 913, to support their 

contention that a reassessment after construction is inappropriate. Petition 

at 11, 14- 15. Owners' argument is contrary to RCW 35.44.250, RCW 

35.44.280, and RCW 35.44.300. 

Douglass is clearly distinguishable from the present case. In 

Douglass, the Court ruled that an assessment was invalid because the 

Douglasses did not receive any special benefit from the sewer 

improvement. None of the flow from the Douglass' properties entered 

into any portion of the improvements constructed after the ULID was 

adopted. Douglass, 115 Wn. App. at 913. The improvements were 

backdated and levied without proper notice to the Douglasses. Id. 

Here, Owners do, in fact, receive a special benefit now that they 

have access to a fully constructed sewer system, and the City will now 

provide notice of the gravity system as directed by the Court of Appeals. 
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Finally, in Douglass there was no reference to a reassessment -

because, as the Court ruled, there was no special benefit to assess. Here, 

Owners failed to meet their burden to prove that their properties were not 

specifically benefitted. 

d. Owners will not lose their protest rights under RCW 
35.43.100. 

Owners also contend that they will lose their protest rights under 

RCW 35.43.1 00, because the improvement has already constructed, citing 

Buckley v. City of Tacoma, 9 Wash. 253, 37 P. 441 (1894). Petition at 6, 

13. 

Buckley is plainly distinguishable from the case at bar. Tacoma 

passed a resolution which stated that the "[C)ity council hereby declares 

its intention to improve N street ... at the expense of the abutting owners . 

. . . " Buckley, 9 Wash. at 258. However, that resolution did not provide 

any details about the construction, when it would take place or who was 

directly affected. Id. After passing the resolution, Tacoma completed the 

construction work and subsequently passed a second resolution which 

retroactively assessed property owners for the N Street project. Id. The 

court found that Tacoma failed to provide proper notice, and, as a result, to 

allow such a process would be "to cut off from property owners all 

knowledge of what they will be expected to answer for, and to deprive 
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them of the opportunity to remonstrate in sufficient numbers if they see 

fit." I d. at 262. 

In contrast to the Buckley decision, the Owners here, along with 

many other property owners, had ample notice of the proposed 

improvement, and were in fact among the parties who filed the petition 

requesting that the City create the ULID in the first place. 

e. Error is not so fundamental that defect cannot be cured. 

Owners also contend that failure to adopt a new ordinance was 

such a fundamental error that it cannot be cured. Petition at 14, 17-18. 

Owners argue that in similar cases the courts have simply annulled 

assessments and not mentioned reassessments. Petition at 14. All of the 

cases Owners cite, however, concern instances where the property owners 

were able to show that their properties did not receive any benefits from 

the improvements. 

For example, Owners cite, at pages 11 and 14 of the Petition, to 

Douglass, but the Court there was clear that Douglass received no special 

benefit from the sewer improvement. 115 Wn. App. at 907 - 910. 

Owners also cite, at page 14 of the Petition, to Kusky v. City of 

Goldendale, 85 Wn. App. 493, 499-500, 933 P.2d 430, 434 (Division III, 

1997), in support of their argument. There, however, the Court found that 

an expert's testimony proved that the Kusky property was not specially 
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benefitted by the LID improvements. Id. Finally, Owners also cite to In 

re Indian Trunk Sewer System to support their position, but again the 

Court there found that the City failed to overcome expert testimony 

demonstrating an absence of special benefit to the landowners' property. 

In re Indian Trunk Sewer System, 35 Wn. App. at 843. Here, Owners' 

property is indisputably benefitted by the construction and operation of the 

new sewer system. 

C. This Case Does Not Present Significant Questions of Law and 
There Are No Substantial Public Interests at Stake. 

Owners request that this Court ignore the plain language of 

Washington statutes concerning local improvement districts, and over 100 

years of case law, in order to prohibit the City from conducting a 

reassessment. No basis exists to grant Owners' request. 

Reassessments are prohibited only when properties have not 

received a special benefit from the improvement or the initial formation 

ordinance lacks necessary detail. Neither situation is present here. Like 

the petitioners who contested the original estimate for an improvement 

which was subsequently revised through a reassessment in Kuehl, Owners 

here contend that the City is not entitled to a reassessment and, if one is 

ordered, that they will be deprived of due process rights. Kuehl, 91 Wn. at 

207. This Court, however, has recognized for over 100 years that the 
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Legislature has given cities the authority to conduct reassessments when, 

as here, properties are specially benefited by an improvement. Id. at 199-

200? 207 - 208.6 

D. Owners Waived Any Argument that the City Is Not Entitled to 
Conduct a Reassessment Under RCW Chapters 35.43 and 
35.44. 

Owners acknowledge that a city may proceed with a reassessment 

after an assessment is nullified. RCW 35.44.280. See Appellants' Brief at 

3 9 - 41; Appellants' Reply Brief at 18 - 19. In their Brief on appeal, 

Owners argued for annulment of the assessments, but nowhere did they 

argue that the City is prohibited from making a reassessment. Owners fail 

to address the provisions in RCW 35.44.280 and 35.44.300 in their 

Petition, other than in passing. This new argument was not properly raised 

in Owners' initial appeal and is accordingly waived. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

This Court should deny review. The Court of Appeals correctly 

applied state statute and precedent when deciding that the City is entitled 

to reassess the subject properties. Owners have failed to satisfy the 

criteria in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, Supreme Court review is 

6 "If the system of local assessments on the property benefited to pay the actual cost of 
local improvements is wrong in theory, it is for the people to correct that wrong by 
amending the Constitution, or for the Legislature to repeal the laws plainly conferring the 
power on the city. It is not for the courts by any process of judicial attrition through 
strained construction to seek to wear away the power granted in plain terms." Kuehl, 91 
Wn. at 207. 
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unwarranted, and Owners' Petition should be denied.